
Board Enforcement Case Pre-Review 
Background Summary 

 
    
Subject: 
TruGreen Lawncare 
2 Delta Drive 
Westbrook, Maine 04092 
   
Summary of Complaints/Incidents: 
 
Incident 1: 
 
On August 4, 2025, the Board received a call from a resident of Berwick, Maine.  The caller 
stated that a lawn care application, possibly for weed control, was conducted at their property at 
around 9:00 AM on Monday, August 4, 2025. The caller does not contract with any company for 
lawn care or pesticide applications. The caller is concerned about their dogs and children 
entering the treated areas. 
 
A follow-up inspection conducted by the Board staff revealed that a TruGreen employee applied 
the pesticides Change Up, EPA Reg. No. 228-445 and Drive XLR8, EPA Reg. No. 7969-272 at 
13 Haflinger Lane instead of the intended customer at 9 Haflinger Lane. The follow-up 
inspection further revealed that the employee did not use a system to positively identify the 
property of the Company’s customer, and that the Company had not recorded any data to 
positively identify its customer location. 
 
Incident 2: 
 
On August 17, 2025, the Board received an email from a former employee of TruGreen who left 
the company in June of 2025, due in part to “leaking or inoperative equipment”. In the email sent 
to the Board, the former employee alleged that: 
 

1. Incorrect pesticide applications happen and are typically handled in-house (there are no 
verification processes for making sure techs are at the correct house). 
 

2. If the app used to track jobs indicates that weather conditions exceed the acceptable 
range, they were directed by my manager (Nick Greer) to change the wind speed to 
10mph and proceed. 
 

3. They stated “there was a day when the backpack sprayer leaked and soaked my whole 
back with Talstar. When I called my manager (John Tripp), he told me to use a different 
piece of equipment but didn’t want me to clean myself up or change my uniform.” 
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From the First Aid Section of the Talstar P label: 
 
If on skin or clothing 
• Take off contaminated clothing. 
• Rinse skin immediately with plenty of water for 15-20 minutes. 
• Call a poison control center or doctor for treatment advice. 
 
Summary of Relevant Laws 
 
7 U.S.C. § 136j(a)(2)(G): 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to use any registered pesticide in a manner inconsistent with 
its labeling; 
 
01-026 CMR ch. 20, Section 6 D (2): 
 
No person may apply a pesticide to a property of another unless prior authorization for the 
pesticide application has been obtained from the owner, manager or legal occupant of that 
property. The term “legal occupant” includes tenants of rented property. 
 
01-026 CMR ch. 20, Section 7 (A): 
 
Commercial applicators making outdoor treatments to residential properties must implement a 
system, based on Board approved methods, to positively identify the property of their customers. 
 
22 M.R.S. § 1471-D (8) (B): 
 
Has engaged in fraudulent business practices in the application or distribution of pesticides; 
 
 
Attachments:  Inspection report, Email, Talstar P label, 2020 Consent Agreement, 2023 Consent 
Agreement  

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=7-USC-71764754-429405721&term_occur=999&term_src=title:7:chapter:6:subchapter:II:section:136j
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=7-USC-71764754-429405721&term_occur=999&term_src=title:7:chapter:6:subchapter:II:section:136j




   

                                                                    Pesticide Use Inspection Report
Inspected Company/Agency sample text sample text

Company/Agency Name
TRUGREEN LAWNCARE

Company/Agency Type
FH

Category
 

Address Line
2 Delta Dr

City
Westbrook

Primary Phone
 

Email
 

Contact First Name
John

Contact Last Name
Tripp

Type and size of operation:
 no value

Do you have obsolete pesticides?
 no value

APPLICATOR, SUPERVISOR, LICENSING

 no value

Licensing is:
Correct
Violation
Not Required

Applicator

Name
Noah Sterling

License (If any)
COA-9650

Firm License (If any)
SCF-1800

Supervisor (When required)

Name
John Trip

License (If any)
CMA-6108

Location
Westbrook

APPLICATION SITE

Latitude Longitude

Field Name, Address or Description of Application Site (If different than on Notice of Inspection)

Field Name
 

Description
 no value

Address Line 1
13 Haflinger Lane

City
Berwick

State
ME

Postal Code
 no value

Owner Name & Address (If different than on Notice of Inspection)

Owner Name
 

Address Line 1
 

City
 

State
ME

Postal Code
 no value

Type of establishment treated (Farm, home, etc)
Home

Site treated (Crop, structure, vegetation, etc.)
Lawn

Size of area treated
807 sq. ft.

Target pest(s)
Weeds

Cropping stage (If applicable)
 

Application Date Time
August 4, 2025 11:00:00 AM EDT

Wind Speed
1.1 mph

Direction
NNW

Temperature
76

Sky Conditions
missing

PESTICIDES APPLIED

Formatted Text
 no value



Add item
Delete

Brand Name EPA Reg # Site as specified on label Violation? Formulation RUP

1

Change Up 228-445 Lawns No Liquid False

2

Drive XLR8 7969-272 Lawns No Liquid False

APPLICATION RATE

Application Method (Equipment)
Ride on sprayer

Pressure
 

Nozzle(s)
N/A

Calibration Adequate
 no value

Calibration Documented
 no value

Total Mix in Tank
25 Gallons

*Amount used if Part Tank Used
.54 g

Area Covered per Tank/Use
 

Quantity of Pesticide Formulation In Tank

Add item
Delete

Quantity

1 34 fl. oz.

2 54 fl. oz.

Formulation Applied Per Unit Area Or Volume

Add item
Delete

 

1 .9183 fl. oz./1000 sq. ft.

2 1.45 fl. oz./1000 sq. ft.

Maximum Labeled Rate Per Unit Area or Per Volume

Add item
Delete

  Violation?

1

1.1 fl. oz./1000 sq. ft. No

2

1.45 fl. oz./1000 sq. ft. No

PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT

R=Required W=Worn

#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#


Apply Mix

Long sleeve shirt R W R W

Long pants R W R W

Shoes/socks R W R W

Chemical resistant boots R W R W

Coveralls  R W R W

Chemical resistant suit  R W R W

Gloves, regular R W R W

Gloves, waterproof R W R W

Gloves, chemical resistant R W R W

Chemical resistant hat R W R W

Chemical resistant apron R W R W

Protective eyewear R W R W

Respirator R W R W

Enclosed cab Y N

PPE in cab R W

Other Items
 no value

OTHER COMPLIANCE ITEMS

 no value

Storage Area
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Posting
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Application Method
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Mixing/Loading Area
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Spray Interval
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Rinsing/Disposal



Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Preharvest Interval
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Off target drift
Violation
No Violation Observed

 no value

Other
Violation
No Violation Observed

Comments
 no value

RECORD DETAILS

 no value

Are records maintained for two years?
Yes
No

 no value

Reviewed by Inspector? If no, explain in comments.
Yes
No

Comments
 no value

 no value

Application Method
Yes
No

 no value

Brand name of pesticide
Yes
No

 no value

Active ingredient(s)
Yes
No

 no value

EPA registration #

 no value

Size of treated area
Yes
No

 no value

Target pest
Yes
No

 no value

Site or crop treated
Yes
No

 no value

Sensitive areas noted

 



Yes
No

 no value

REI or Ventilation
Yes
No

 no value

Applicator name
Yes
No

 no value

Applicator license #
Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Date of application
Yes
No

 no value

Time of application
Yes
No

 no value

Town of application
Yes
No

 no value

Site name or description
Yes
No

Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Wind speed & direction
Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Temperature
Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Sky conditions
Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Total amount of RUP
Yes
No
N/A

 no value

Application rate GUP
Yes
No

 no value

Sprayer calibration
Yes
No
N/A

Comments

 no value

Did inspector take copy of records
Yes
No

 no value

Hazard Communication Standard
Yes
No



Comments
 no value

Worker Protection Standard?
No

Worker Protection Standard

 no value

Provide supporting details and documents.

Physical Samples Taken

Sample Number Sample Description Sample Type Date of Submission Result Lab Location Analysis Completion Date  

No items

Add Physical Sample

Documentary Samples

Sample Number Sample Description  

250805JEP01A Copy of application records Delete

250805JEP01B Photo of label for Drive XLR8 EPA Reg. No. 7969-272 Delete

250805JEP01C Photo of label for Change Up EPA Reg. No. 228-445 Delete

Add Documentary Sample

Reportable Data

Number of Documentary Samples Collected
2

Supporting Documents

 (5)
Loading...

Brief Summary of Inspection
On 8/05/2025 a non-agricultural follow up use inspection was conducted with Noah Sterling, applicator for TruGreen, and supervisor John Tripp at 2 Delta Drive in Westbrook. This inspection was completed as a follow up to the complaint filed in
EC-107857, alleging unauthorized application. The complainant was home at time of application, she saw the applicator spraying on lawn, the applicator left after she confronted him, and he did not leave signage. 

On 8/4/2025, applicator Noah Sterling made an application of Change Up EPA Reg. No. 228-445 and Drive XLR8 EPA Reg. No. 7969-272 to 13 Haflinger Lane in Berwick to control weed in the yard. Sterling applied to 807 sq. ft. before the homeowner
told him he was at the wrong property. Change Up and Drive XLR8 both require the applicator to where chemical resistant gloves when mixing and applying, sterling admitted he did not wear gloves, he also did not wear protective eye wear which is



required by Change Up. Records are missing application method, REI, applicator license #, and sky conditions 

The target site for this application was supposed to be 9 Haflinger Lane, which is next door to 13 Haflinger Lane. When shown a picture of each property Sterling confirmed he made an application to 13 Haflinger Lane. Sterling said he knock on the door
and no one answered so he started the application. 

In November 2024 there was a misapplication of a fertilizer at TruGreen, recommended Tripp have multiple verification methods for a property such as pictures of the property and electric meter numbers. This property did not have any method of
positive identification of proper treatment which is a violation of Chapter 20: Special Provisions.

Recommendations
 no value

Acknowledgement

    Acknowledgement:

    The physical and/or documentary samples listed above were collected by a Maine Board of Pesticides Control Representative in connection with
     administration of FIFRA and/or State of Maine Pesticide Statutes and Regulations.

Accept Clear

no value

#
#








Documentary Sample No. 250805JEP01B 

Photo of label for Drive XLR8 EPA Reg. No. 7969-272 

  



 

 



Documentary Sample No. 250805JEP01C 

Photo of label for Change Up EPA Reg. No. 228-445 



 



250805JEP01 

Photos of 9 and 13 Haflinger Lane in Berwick 

 

 

 

13 Haflinger Lane, Berwick. Incorrect site/location.



 

9 Haflinger Lane 

Target site 





























Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement 
Background Summary 

Subject: TruGreen Lawncare 
 2 Delta Drive 
 Westbrook, ME 04092 

Date of Incident(s): June 25, 2020 - September 15, 2022 

Background Narrative:   On October 10, 2020, a licensed applicator for TruGreen Lawncare 
applied Talstar P Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 279-3206, to a residential property located in Saco, 
Maine for control of mosquitoes and ticks.  Prior to the start of the application, a TruGreen co-
worker asked the applicator to hold-off applying the insecticide in the backyard so that they could 
complete the lawn aeration service assigned to them.  The applicator ignored the request of their 
co-worker, and the individual was exposed to the spray solution while conducted the lawn aeration. 
The exposed worker sought medical attention. 

On October 29 & November 5, of 2020 a licensed applicator for TruGreen Lawncare experienced 
exposure to Talstar P Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 279-3206, when the powered backpack being 
used for the application had a leak and the applicator’s clothing became saturated with the pesticide 
and contacted their skin.  The applicator was not instructed to properly wash themselves or their 
clothing and was encouraged to continue working. 

Prior to pesticide applications conducted on March 22, 2021, May 10, 2021, June 30, 2021, & 
August 22, 2022, TruGreen Lawncare failed to notify a member of the Pesticide Notification 
Registry in Cape Elizabeth.  Failure to notify the same registrant on several occasions was settled 
with Board in Consent Agreement in January of 2020. 

During a pesticide spray application to a lawn with powered spray equipment conducted by a 
licensed applicator for TruGreen Lawncare on May 26, 2021, in Westbrook, Maine a neighbor was 
exposed to Merit 2F Systemic Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 432-1312, Barricade 4FL Herbicide, 
EPA Reg. No. 110-1139, & Escalade 2 Herbicide, EPA Reg. No. 228-442, through drift. 

On June 3, 2021, a licensed applicator for TruGreen Lawncare was conducting herbicide 
applications with Turpower 3 Herbicide, EPA Reg. No. 228-551, to common space lawn areas in 
a neighborhood in Scarborough, Maine.  The applicator was observed not wearing the proper PPE 
(Personal Protective Equipment).  The ensuing inspection confirmed the failure to wear proper 
PPE and the application being conducted with powered spray equipment was done at higher wind 
speeds the label allows. 
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Summary of Violations:  CMR 01-026, Chapter 28, Section 2 (D) requires commercial 
applicators to provide advance notification of outdoor pesticide applications made within 250 feet 
of the property of any participant on the current year Notification Registry. 

The violations described above are considered a second, third, fourth and fifth offense within a 
four-year period pursuant to 7 M.R.S. § 616-A (2) A (2). 
 
7 U.S.C. § 136j(a)(2)(G) and 7 M.R.S. § 606(2)(B) prohibit the use of a pesticide inconsistent with 
its label. 
 
The Talstar P label contains the following statements: “Do not apply this product in a way that 
will contact any person or pet either directly or through spray drift.”  “Remove clothing 
immediately if pesticide gets inside. Then wash thoroughly and put on clean clothing.” 
 
Barricade 4FL label contains the following statement: “Do not apply this product in a way that 
will contact workers or other persons, either directly or through drift.” 
 
Escalade 2 label contains the following statement: “Do not apply this product in a way that will 
contact workers or other persons, either directly or through drift.” 
 
CMR 01-026, Chapter 22, Section 2 (D) contains the statement: “The applicator shall cease spray 
activities at once upon finding evidence showing the likely presence of unprotected persons in the 
target area or in such proximity as to result in unconsented exposure to pesticides.” 
 
The Trupower 3 label contains the following statements: “All mixers, loaders, applicators and 
other handlers must wear: 
a) Long-sleeved shirt and long pants 
b) Shoes plus socks, and 
c) Protective eyewear (Goggles or face shield or shielded safety glasses) 
d) Chemical-resistant gloves (except for applicators using groundboom equipment). 
e) Chemical-resistant apron when mixing or loading, cleaning up spills or equipment, or 
otherwise exposed to the concentrate. 
f) Do not apply at wind speeds greater than 10 mph.” 
 
Rationale for Settlement:  TruGreen Lawncare failed to contact a member of the Pesticide 
Notification Registry on four occasions.  Pesticide applications conducted by applicators allowed 
exposure to pesticides through direct contact and drift on four separate occasions.  The incidents 
of exposure, failure to wear proper PPE and applications during high wind speed are all violations 
of pesticide labeling.  These violations occurred within a four-year period of a previously settled 
consent agreement that included failure to notify members of the Pesticide Notification Registry, 
applications in high winds and applications to the incorrect property. 
 

Attachments:  Proposed Consent Agreement 

















Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement 
Background Summary 

 
Subject: TruGreen Lawncare 

      2 Delta Drive 
     Westbrook, Maine 04092 
  
       

Date of Incident(s): August 22, 2017/ April 5, 2018/ May 6, 2019/ July 30, 2019 
 
Background Narrative: On August 22, 2017, A TruGreen applicator applied Turflon Ester Ultra Herbicide 
and Quinclorac 75DF Select Herbicide to a residence at 254 Foreside Road in Cumberland Foreside. The 
resident told TruGreen on multiple prior occasions he did not want their services. The application was made 
anyways.  
 
On April 5, 2018, a TruGreen applicator applied Barricade 4L herbicide to a customer on Jacob Avenue in 
Scarborough. The applicator recorded the wind and direction as 2.5 mph, from the W/SW at 9:18 AM. Official 
weather records at the Portland Jetport (3.47 miles from application site) for that date, before and after the 
application time, recorded the wind speed and direction as 21 mph with gusts to 30 mph from W/NW and 20 
mph with gusts to 31 mph from W/NW. It is a violation to spray when winds exceed 15 mph.  
 
On May 6, 2019, a TruGreen applicator applied two herbicides, Escalade 2 and Fertilizer with 0.29% Barricade  
to a complex of 24 condominiums and an additional 3 single homes in Windham. These applications were made 
to the wrong sites and were not TruGreen customers. TruGreen did not have a system in place to positively 
identify customer properties. Some of the treated properties were not posted. The company was aware pesticides 
were applied to the wrong properties but did not report these incidents to the Board. 
 
On July 30, 2019, a TruGreen applicator applied Quinclorac 75 DF herbicide and Vista XRT herbicide to a 
property in Cape Elizabeth. That property was listed on the 2019 Maine Pesticide Notification Registry as an 
abutter to a registry member. The company did not provide notification to the registry member.  
 
 
Summary of Violation(s):   
 

• CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 6(D)2 requires prior authorization from the property owner before a 
person can apply pesticides to their property. 
 

• CMR 01-026 Chapter 22 Section 2(B)III requires “Without limitation of the other requirements herein, 
under no circumstances shall pesticide application occur when wind speed in the area is in excess of 15 
miles per hour.” 
 

• CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 7(A) requires that commercial applicators making outdoor treatments 
to residential properties must implement a system, based on Board approved methods, to positively 
identify the property of their customers. The Board shall adopt a policy listing approved methods of 
positive identification of the proper treatment site. 
 



• CMR 01-026 Chapter 28, Section 3 requires that pesticide applications to turf areas must be posted in a 
manner and at locations designed to reasonably assure that persons entering such areas will see the 
notice. 
 

• CMR 01-026 Chapter 50, Section 2(C) requires commercial applicators to telephone spray incident 
reports into the Board. 
 

• CMR 01-026 Chapter 28, Section 2 (D) requires that commercial applicators notify individuals listed on 
the Maine Pesticide Notification Registry at least six hours in advance of any pesticide application made 
within 250 feet of a registrant’s listed property. 
 

Rationale for Settlement: There were multiple violations in this case. They included unauthorized 
applications, application in excessive winds, failure to post turf applications, no approved system in place to 
identify customer properties, failure to report applications to wrong properties, and failure to provide the 
required notification to a registry member. The Company entered into an Administrative Consent Agreement 
with the Board for a registry notification violation occurring on April 29, 2016. Consequently, the violations 
described above are subsequent violations pursuant to 7 M.R.S. § 616-A (2)(B). 
 
Attachments: Proposed Consent Agreement  













COMPLIANCE POLICIES TO AVOID VIOLATIONS PURSUANT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE MAINE BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL AND TRUGREEN 
 
Pursuant to Section 45 of the of the Administrative Consent Agreement between the Maine Board of 
Pesticides and TruGreen, TruGreen submits the following policies to better comply with Maine pesticide 
regulations.  In this regard, TruGreen is committed to compliance with law and has dedicated substantial 
resources to avoid violations.  In this regard TruGreen has made corrections to its procedures as follows:   
 
THE PESTICIDE NOTIFICATION REGISTRY, CMR 01-026, Chapter 28, Section 2 (D).  TruGreen has a 
procedure to notify individuals on the Pesticide Notification Registry, but found that there was a gap in 
the process that resulted in the violation.  The following outlines TruGreen’s procedure for compliance 
with this law: 
 

• Prior to making any pesticide applications in a given calendar year, TruGreen downloads the 

most updated Pesticide Notification Registry from the State’s website.  

• All registrants are entered into our database as “chemical sensitive parties.” 

• During the above listed data entry of each registrant a trigger distance is also entered. As a local 

policy in our branch office, we will use three times the State’s regulation distance of 250 feet. 

We will use 250 yards. 

• Upon our system scheduling any of our customers for a treatment of any kind, which occurs one 

business day in advance of the schedule date, an automatic check is performed against our 

database of “chemical sensitive parties,” which will indicate whether any of our scheduled 

customers’ properties fall within the trigger distance of any of the properties of the individuals 

listed in our database of “chemical sensitive parties.” 

• A report is then automatically generated which lists all “chemical sensitive parties” are required 

to be notified pursuant to CMR 01-026 Chapter 28, Section 2 (D), based on the next business 

day’s scheduled work. 

• Before the close of business on any given business day, the report generated above is reviewed 

and phone calls are placed by our staff to any registrant listed on the reported generated via the 

process above, to notify the registrant of any pesticide application scheduled for the next 

business day within our trigger distance of their registered property. 

• As a further method of preventing un-notified pesticide treatments, any property for which we 

attempt to schedule any treatment to be performed the same business day as it is being 

scheduled, our system flags properties that fall within the trigger distance of all registrants’ 

registered properties and disallows users from manually scheduling inside those trigger 

distances regardless of whether the work to be performed is expected to involve the application 

of pesticides or not. 

 

Positive Identification, CMR 01-026 Chapter 20, Section 7 (A).  TruGreen has 

expended significant resources in the purchase and installation of the Telogis software in our 
service trucks.  This system is a GPS based system that directs trucks to the correct address.  All 
customer addresses are geocoded at the time of sale, and Telogis routes the truck to the 
address.  We have found that this system is very accurate, but like any system, there are 
occasional errors resulting in trucks being routed to the wrong address.  TruGreen continues to 



refine this system and look for enhancements to improve accuracy.  Our IT Department is 
working on improvements on several fronts, including technology to photograph and store 
photographs of the home onto the customer’s account which will be   available on the service 
technician’s tablet.   Our IT department has been working with a major information systems 
vendor to adapt this technology to TruGreen’s operation. 
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